2001

Kent W. Holman and Alfred G. Kessler, dba Golden Spike Reality and Construction v. Blair W. Sorenson and Marjean Sorenson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs (contractors) brought this action for breach of a construction contract with defendants (owners). Defendants counterclaimed for breach.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The District Court found that both parties had indeed breached and awarded the contractor damages of \$7,321. Defendants are "to be given credit for any amount paid Fashion Cabinets Manufacturing, Inc.," a materialman with a lien on the property in the amount of \$1,523.40.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants-appellants seek a determination by this Court that the trial court erroneously awarded damages pursuant to its finding of mutual breach, and further seek the entry of an appropriate order either fixing damages or remanding for a proper determination of damages.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Certain facts were not in dispute before the trial court. Mr. Blair Sorenson, the defendant owner, had never met either of the plaintiffs contractors until he observed them constructing a fourplex on Green Street in Salt Lake City (R. 4). He was planning to erect a fourplex on the same street and approached Alfred Kessler (who with Kent Holman constituted the partnership named Golden Spike Realty and Construction) to inquire whether they would submit a bid on it. An earnest money agreement dated April 3, 1973 (Ex. P-1) was entered by the parties in which Golden Spike agreed to build "a building . . . at 2303 Green Street, Salt Lake City, Utah, as per plans and spec." in consideration of \$55,000 (Ex. P-1). Defendants paid a \$100 earnest money deposit. On May 8, 1973, a Construction Agreement was entered (Ex. P-3 and P-4) for a contract price of \$56,000, incorporating an intermediate agreement (Ex. P-2) to increase the price by \$1,000 to cover increased costs.

Even before construction began in June, 1973, things did not go well between the parties. The differences between

Mr. Sorenson and the contractor continued until the next spring, when Mr. Sorenson terminated the contract. Much of the testimony in this case is concerned to establish that the "fault" was exclusively one party's or the other's. The trial court concluded that both parties were to bear the responsibility for the breach. Defendant does not challenge this conclusion on appeal, but asks only that this Court read the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law with the thought in mind that defendant is excoriated so thoroughly in them only because the trial court determined that plaintiffs suffered the greater damage and thus were entitled to draft the Findings and Conclusions. From the Findings as plaintiffs drafted them, it would be impossible to discern how plaintiffs breached.

The following is an outline of the principal disputes and differences between the parties:

Mr. Holman, one of the plaintiffs, testified that plaintiffs submitted their bid with the assumption that all of the fixtures in the existing house on the property and the shrubs and bushes would be salvageable by the demolition subcontractor, and that because the Sorensens removed some of these items the cost of demolition was increased by \$300. Mr. Sorenson testified that this was never his understanding. It was not established exactly what items were removed or what their value might have been. It is clear from the record that the items, whatever they might have been, were removed before

plaintiffs took possession of the property and before construction. It is significant, too, that the contract contains none of the usual language to the effect that the contractor shall take possession of and have control over the site during construction.

Work did not actually commence on the jobsite until July 27, when excavation began. The contractor immediately struck water at a depth of three to four feet and work was halted while this problem was worked out. The underground water required changes in the plans with respect to the basement and required the installation of a retaining wall. The agreement between the parties was modified and reduced to a written agreement dated September 1, 1974 (Ex. P-8). Paragraphs 3 and 4 of this agreement set out specific prices for specific work to be performed by the contractor. There was no dispute concerning these items. The agreement also provided in paragraph 2 that Mr. Sorenson would "pay for both the labor and materials required to erect sufficient retaining walls to meet this new elevation and comply with city ordinances." There was substantial disagreement at trial as to whether this agreement obligated Mr. Sorenson to arrange and pay for backfill. The contractor in fact had the backfill placed by a subcontractor and the agreement itself speaks of "added backfill."

The Record is replete with plaintiffs' testimony concerning conduct by defendants which purportedly caused delays in the completion of the work. Because these matters go to the

finding of breach, which is not appealed from, they are not set out in detail. In general, however, plaintiffs claimed that their slow progress on the job arose from Mr. Sorenson's interference, while defendants contended that the slow progress was the result of plaintiffs' refusal to appear on the jobsite and get on with the work.

Despite plaintiffs' ostensible concern about delays "caused" by Mr. Sorenson, it is clear that they were not unusually concerned to perform the work themselves. Exhibit D-31, a calendar prepared by Mr. Sorenson from his diary, shows that the contractor was on the job for 13 of 25 working days in September, 1973, six of 27 in October, 11 of 26 in November, and 12 of 25 in December. January, 1974, was a better month--plaintiffs failed to work only five of 27 days. The work slowed considerably, however, during the winter and spring of 1974.

The situation became intolerable for Mr. Sorenson when he learned from his investigation pursuant to complaints and demands from subcontractors that even though Golden Spike had drawn \$45,700, only \$25,661 in lien waivers had been filed (R. 278) with the lender, American Savings & Loan. He then learned that, in breach of the contractor's specific promise to procure a bond for the job, no bond had in fact ever been obtained. In all, \$7,946.44 in mechanics liens were filed against the property (excluding plaintiffs' lien of \$7,981.71). (All liens filed are marked collectively as Ex. D-37.) All liens

were, moreover, for work performed before the contract was terminated on May 30. Each lien recites that materials were delivered or work performed pursuant to a contract with Golden Spike Realty and Construction.

All of the liens, except Fashion Cabinets Manufacturing, Inc.'s, were "precluded, finally and forever" by the judgment entered by the trial court (R. 530-31). If, however, these "precluded" subcontractors learn of the theory of quantum meruit (and appellants have very good reason to believe some have), then Mr. Sorenson cannot be assured that he will not be paying for their work twice, once to plaintiffs, and once directly.

Fashion Cabinets' lien was not precluded and the trial court gave Mr. Sorenson six months to pay it, with credit to be given against the judgment entered for the contractor.

With respect to the contractual relationship between the parties, there is one point that, for emphasis, defendants would like to make in this statement of facts, even though it will need repeating in the argument to follow, which concerns what was referred to at trial as "contract credits." During the course of the contract, before it was terminated, the contractor gave Mr. Sorenson credit against the contract price for work Mr. Sorenson performed. It was as if Mr. Sorenson was acting as a subcontractor, performing services and supplying materials to the jobsite. But instead of receiving payment for the work, he received credit against his obligation for the

contract price. These credits included work or materials relating to light fixtures, the mansaard roof, painting, floor covering, building plans, fire insurance, the fence, and an earnest money payment. At trial there was no disagreement over these items. Plaintiffs stipulated that all of them should properly be credited to defendants. The total credit for the items set out above was (as agreed at trial) \$6,779.

The trial of this matter concluded on April 15, 1975. Seven weeks later, on July 9, 1975, in a letter to the parties' attorneys, the trial court "determined that defendants have breached the contract" and "that the plaintiffs have breached the contract." (This letter was not numbered by the clerk but is in the Record between 515 and 516 and is appended to this brief as Appendix A.) The court determined that the contractor had been damaged as follows:

Contract Price -----	\$56,000
Allowable Extras-----	3,900
Total Amount Due Plaintiffs-----	\$59,900
LESS:	
Credits Due Defendants-----	\$ 6,779
Amount Paid Plaintiffs-----	45,800
	\$52,579
Amount to Which Plaintiffs are Entitled-----	\$ 7,321

With respect to defendants' damages, the court said:

"[T]he above computation is inclusive of the amounts to which [defendants] have been damaged and to which they are entitled; therefore plaintiff is entitled to judgment for the above amount."

The court indicated that it realized inequities might occur because subcontractors had not been paid:

"As indicated in chambers to counsel, I am concerned about the liens which remain unsatisfied against the property. I would therefore order that execution of the judgment be stayed for a period of six months from the date thereof, and at the end of that period the defendants to be given credit against the judgment for any liens which they have satisfied or which remain unsatisfied at that time." (emphasis added)

The judgment as drafted by plaintiffs' attorney took the court literally, allowing credit only for the one perfected mechanics lien. He ignored the court's plural reference to the claims of the subcontractors. Defendants are thus left exposed to the very real possibility that the subcontractors and materialmen may recover against them in quantum meruit for work for which defendants have already paid plaintiffs.

This award of damages is based on serious errors that should be corrected by this Court.

ARGUMENT

I

THE TRIAL COURT'S DAMAGE AWARD CLEARLY VIOLATES THE RULE THAT UPON A CONTRACTOR'S BREACH THE OWNER IS ENTITLED TO DAMAGES MEASURED BY HIS COST TO COMPLETE AND UPON AN OWNER'S BREACH THE CONTRACTOR MUST ACCOUNT FOR COSTS SAVED BY NOT COMPLETING.

The Restatement of Contracts, §346, has often been cited by this Court as a basis for computing damages upon the breach of a construction contract; see, e.g., Rex T. Fuhrman, Inc. v. Jarrell, 21 Utah 2d 298, 445 P.2d 136 (1968); Keller v. Deseret Mortuary Co., 23 Utah 2d 1, 455 P.2d 197 (1969).

This section provides:

"(1) For a breach by one who has contracted to construct a specified product, the other party can get judgment for compensatory damages for all unavoidable harm that the builder had reason to foresee when the contract was made, less such part of the contract price as has not been paid and is not still payable, determined as follows:

(a) For defective or unfinished construction he can get judgment for . . .

(i) the reasonable cost of construction and completion in accordance with the contract, if this is possible and does not involve unreasonable economic waste;

* * *

(2) For a breach by one who has promised to pay for section construction, if it is a partial breach the builder can get judgment for the instalment due, with interest; and if it is a total breach he can get judgment, with interest so far as permitted by the rules stated in Section 337, for . . .

(a) The entire contract price and compensation for unavoidable special harm that the defendant had reason to foresee when the contract was made, less instalments already paid and the cost of completion that the builder can reasonably save by not completing the work. . . ."

The trial court's award in this case is inexplicable in terms of these rules. Even if the court had found no breach at all on the part of the contractor, the award is excessive.

This error seems to have arisen from the court's misapprehension of the agreement between the parties at the time work was terminated. At trial the parties agreed on certain points concerning the contract, but the meaning of this agreement seems to have been misunderstood by the court below.

Both parties agreed that the contract price was \$56,000. Plaintiffs agreed that defendants should be given credit against

this price for \$1,000 for a fence on the property which was included in the original contract price, but which, it was later agreed, defendant would install at his own expense (P-11, R. 82). On plaintiffs' "Damage Recapitulation" (Ex. P-11, App. B), "contract credits to owner" are stated at \$5,648. These credits are not itemized on P-11, but they are on defendants' damage summary;¹

A. Light Fixtures	\$ 400
B. Mansaard Roof	420
C. Painting	1300
D. Floor Covering	3178
E. Building Plans	<u>350</u>
These items total:	\$5648

This corresponds to the "credits" admitted by plaintiffs.

All of these items were included as part of the original contract price, but were in fact provided, installed, paid for or performed by the owner, Mr. Sorenson. He was, accordingly, given credit for them against the contract price. Mr. Sorenson also claimed \$31 for a fire insurance premium which he paid, and at trial the plaintiffs agreed he should be given credit for this amount (R. 225). Finally, it was agreed that Mr. Sorenson should be given credit for the \$100 earnest money paid upon the execution of the Earnest Money Agreement (P-11, App. B).

So without consideration of extras or the costs

¹ This summary, entitled "Accounting Summary by Defendants, Blair W. and Marjean Sorenson," was before the court and is in the Record but was (apparently) inadvertently not admitted as an exhibit. It is included in this brief as Appendix C.

plaintiffs'

~~defendant~~ avoided by not finishing the work or the amount the Sorensens paid to complete the unfinished work, the parties agreed at trial that the status of the contract was as follows:

Contract Price		\$56,000
Credits to Owner		
Earnest money	\$ 100	
Fence	1000	
Light Fixtures	400	
Mansard Roof	420	
Painting	1300	
Floor Covering	3178	
Building Plans	350	
Fire Insurance	<u>31</u>	
Total Credits	\$6779	<u>6,779</u>
BALANCE		\$49,221

At the risk of appearing to belabor the point, appellants must emphasize that these credits were agreed upon at trial as items included in the original contract price but furnished and paid for by the owner pursuant to an agreement that the owner (defendant) would get credit against the contract price in this amount. There can be no question about this. In a document entitled "Buyers Statement" (D-26), for example, which plaintiffs submitted to defendants in May, 1974, all of these credits except the \$31 insurance premium are shown, which, together with the \$100 earnest money payment equal \$6,779.

The trial court apparently misunderstood all of this and found that

"The Defendants are entitled to credits, including costs of completion, as against the [contract price

plus extras] in the amount of \$6,779, such amount being inclusive of the amount to which the Defendants have been damaged and to which they are entitled." (emphasis added) (Finding 9, R. 526)

The court then concluded:

"3. That the Plaintiffs have breached the contract in these respects alleged by the defendants.

4. That the credits, including the costs of completion, to which the Defendants are entitled by virtue of such breach, were heretofore deducted from the contract price as specified in the Findings of Fact." (Conclusions 3 and 4, R. 527)

When the trial court gave defendants "credit" for \$6,779, it gave them nothing more than what plaintiffs agreed they had coming for "contract credits", plus the \$100 earnest money payment.² It gave them nothing for costs of completion, even though it purported to include such costs in the \$6,779. Plaintiffs themselves conceded that there would be costs to

²Mr. Holman described the "contract credits" as follows:

Q. Now, can you explain to us what the item labeled Contract Credits to the Owner consists of?

A. Yes. They are credits given to the owner for items that he took on and did on his own such as floor coverings, the shingling, the painting and I think there was a couple other miscellaneous things. I don't see them on my list that itemizes them now.

Q. Was that figure arrived at after negotiations between you and Mr. Sorenson? . . .

A. On the different items--on each of the different items the amount for floor covering was agreed on. It was a matter of the cost breakdown. That's what was allowed for in the cost breakdown on the place and so that's what he got. The painting, that's what was allowed in the--in the cost breakdown and that's what he received there. . . ." (R. 99)

complete the work in the amount of \$1,807.50, which did not, apparently, include plaintiffs' profits.

Perhaps the trial court's error can best be summarized by reference to Restatement of Contracts, § 346. Upon an owner's breach, a contractor is entitled to

"[1] the entire contract price . . . less [2] installments already paid and [3] cost of completion that the builder could reasonably save by not completing the work." (emphasis added)

The contract price was in dispute in this case only because the parties could not agree on "extras". The parties did agree that the contract price was \$56,000 less \$6,679 for credit to defendants for work Sorenson performed that was originally included in the \$56,000 contract price. Thus, the contract price was:

\$49,321 plus Extras.

It was agreed that the amount paid plaintiffs was \$45,700 disbursed as progress payments plus \$100 for the earnest money payment. Thus, the installments paid were \$45,800.

The costs saved by plaintiffs in not completing was asserted by the plaintiffs themselves to be \$1,807.50. Thus plaintiffs' damages for defendants' breach was

Contract Price less Installments Paid less Costs Saved equal Damages
(\$49,321+Extras) - (\$45,800) - (\$1,807.50) = (\$1713.50+Extras)

Giving plaintiffs the extras of \$3,900 as found by the trial court, the total damages for plaintiffs are \$5613.50.

This is without considering cost of completion damages that defendants are entitled to from plaintiffs' breach.

Thus, when the "contract extras" are properly understood, it is clear that the judgment of \$7,321 is \$1707.50 high even if there had been no ruling that plaintiff breached. The judgment entered does not account for the alleged costs of \$1807.50 plaintiffs saved by not completing the contract. In fact, the judgment would be in error by exactly this amount except that the \$100 earnest money fee was added both to "credits due defendants" and "amount paid plaintiffs" in the court's letter opinion. (App. A)

The most vivid illustration of the trial court's error is plaintiffs' own Damage Recapitulation (Ex. P-11). As contained in the Record, the first sheet of this exhibit contains certain modifications in pencil to reflect what plaintiffs themselves admitted were errors or omissions in the original typewritten version. On the Damage Recapitulation, the total contract price is shown at \$56,000, the total extras claimed are \$4760.99, defendants are given credit for the fence in the amount of \$1000, together with "contract credits" in the amount of \$5648, for a total contract credit of \$6648 (which does not include the \$31 insurance premium). Finally, plaintiffs alleged that the costs they saved by not completing the work is \$1807.50. Thus, the total amount plaintiffs claimed as damages at trial was \$6505.49.

In spite of this, the trial court awarded plaintiffs judgment in the amount of \$7321.

II

DEFENDANTS ARE ENTITLED TO DAMAGES FOR THE COSTS THEY INCURRED IN COMPLETING THE APARTMENT AND CORRECTING DEFECTS.

Because the trial court found that plaintiffs breached the contract, defendants should be given credit for the costs they incurred in completing the work and correcting defects. See Rex T. Fuhriman, Inc. v. Jarrell, supra, Keller v. Deseret Mortuary Co., supra, Restatement of Contracts, § 346(1)(a).

At trial, many of the items the defendants claimed as costs to complete the project were disputed, either as to their necessity or as to their cost. Nevertheless, on a great many of these items, the evidence, as shown by the record, clearly preponderates for defendants. It is not plausible that the trial court determined that there were no costs of completion, for to do so, it would have to disregard and disbelieve not only all of the extensive evidence presented by defendants concerning cost of completion, but also plaintiffs' admissions that they would have incurred costs of \$1807.50 to complete the apartments. It would appear that the trial court's failure to give defendants credit for their costs of completion did not arise from its view of the evidence, but from a fundamental misapprehension of what the contract credits were or the law of damages. In any event, the trial court did not enter specific findings with respect to defendants' claim for completion costs, but merely stated that these costs were included in

the \$6779 "credit" that was given defendants in the judgment. Thus, it appears that the trial court acknowledged the defendants were entitled to an award for such damages.

These damages, as presented by defendants, are as follows:

Payment to Rocky Mountain Trane

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