2001

Kent W. Holman and Alfred G. Kessler, dba Golden Spike Reality and Construction v. Blair W. Sorenson and Marjean Sorenson : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT'S FINDING OF MUTUAL BREACH WAS AN EFFORT TO AVOID THE IMPOSITION OF PLAINTIFF'S ATTORNEY FEES.

Section 38-1-18 U.C.A. 1953 provides as follows:

"In any action brought to enforce any lien under this chapter the successful party shall be entitled to recover a reasonable attorneys fee, to be fixed by the Court, which shall be taxed as costs in the action."
(Emphasis supplied)

The Supplement to General Building Contract, Exhibit P-4, provided,

"In case of default in performance of this Contract, the defaulting party agrees to pay all expense of enforcement, including a reasonable attorney's fee."

The Earnest Money, Exhibit P-1, also provided for an attorney fee.

With these statutory and contractual provisions in mind, the plaintiffs asserted at the trial that they were

entitled to attorney fees of \$2,400.00 incurred prior to the trial, and to \$350.00 per day for the three to three and a half days spent in Court. The figures were admitted by a stipulation of counsel found at pages 186 and 187 of the record.

The Court did not wish to impose attorney fees on top of the judgment and advised counsel, in chambers, in connection with a discussion of the attorney fee provisions, and before a ruling, that it might be inclined to a finding of mutual breach, presumably to avoid what appeared to be the mandatory language of the statute, 38-1-18 U.C.A. Counsel on this appeal, Defendants third attorney, was not privy to the discussion nor a participant at the trial.

The effect of a finding of mutual breach was the avoidance of Plaintiffs attorney fees, an advantage to the Defendants. Such fees would have increased the judgment, which, considering the circumstances, was minimal, by 50%. The Court said as much. In its direction to Counsel, which Appellant has included as Appendix "A" to the Brief, the Court said,

"It is the Court's further opinion that the Plaintiffs have breached the contract in the respects alleged by the Defendants, however the above computation is inclusive of the amounts to which they have been damaged and to which they are entitled; therefore Plaintiff is entitled to judgment for the above amount with no attorney fees being awarded to either party, and each party to bear its own costs." (Emphasis supplied)

The relationship of attorney fees to the finding that the plaintiffs had breached, an afterthought, is obvious.

Appellants' appellate counsel seeks to turn the finding of mutual breach into a theoretical dilemma with far reaching implications. The issue as to whether a Contract has been breached is ordinarily a question of fact for the trier of facts if the evidence is conflicting or if different reasonable inferences may be drawn. See: 17 AmJur 2d, "Contract," section 355, p. 793, 794. It is also for the trier of the facts, Judge Sawaya in this instance, to determine from the facts and circumstances whether the omission of some act stipulated in the Contract or a departure from its terms is substantial, that is whether it is a matter vital to the Contract, material or essential, or merely an omission or departure in an unimportant detail. See: Porters v. Traders Ins. Co. 164 NY 504, 58 NE 641, University Club v. Beakin 265 Ill 257, 106 NE 790.

In this case, Judge Sawaya found a breach, which conveniently nullified Respondents' attorney's fees and costs, but not, the judge thought, the Contractor's right to damages arising from the Appellants' far more serious conduct.

Whereas a plaintiff cannot prevail in an action for nonperformance of a Contract if he alone is responsible for the nonperformance, Porto Rico v. Title Guaranty and S. Co. 227 W.S. 382, 57 L ed 561, 33 S. Ct 362, William B.

Hughes Produce Co. v. Pulley 47 Utah 544, 155 P. 337, if the impossibility of performance arises directly or even indirectly from the acts of the promisee, it is a sufficient excuse for nonperformance. This is upon the principle that he who prevents a thing may not avail himself of the nonperformance which he has occasioned. Columbus R. Power and L G v. Columbus 249 U.S. 399, 63 L ed 669, 39 S. Ct 349, 6 ALR 1648, Bewick v. Mecham 26 Cal 2d 92, 156 P.2d 757, 157 ALR 1277, Ford v. Norton 32 NM 518, 260 P. 411 (recognizing principle but finding it inapplicable), Williams v. Yellow Pine Box and Lumber Co. 126 Wash 380, 218 P. 245. See: ANNOTATION: 84 ALR 2d 65 12 (b).

Where the facts are in dispute, as they clearly were, where different reasonable inferences could be drawn, as they clearly could, Judge Sawaya sitting without a jury was entitled to determine whether one had performed, Heywood v. Ogden Motor Car Co. 71 Utah 417, 266 P. 1040, 62 ALR 1323, substantially or sufficiently, New v. New 148 Cal App 2d 372, 306 P. 2d 987, or had failed to perform. See: Terry v. United States Fidelity and G. Co. 196 Wash 206, 82 P. 2d 532, 119 ALR 1276.

The Court concluded that the Defendants breached the Contract from the very beginning, in that they,

".....interfered with demolition, denied ownership of the property, caused variations from the plans and specifications, made unauthorized substitutions, and despite repeated and continued demands, failed to make progress payments in the time and manner specified, failed and refused to pay for extras that

had been commissioned, or for the balance due under the Contract, delayed the completion of construction, withheld percentages from the payments which were in fact made and ordered the plaintiffs, in violation and breach of the parties contractual arrangement, not to proceed with or complete the project." (Finding 7, R. 525)

The plaintiffs failed to complete the project, the Court found, in the time specified, and left, at the time of their withdrawal, (they were, of course, dismissed) some work to be completed. (Finding 9, R. 526)

The situation, with respect to the consequences of the Trial Court's finding that there was a mutual breach and the implication of such a finding for the issue of damages, is well covered by traditional contract principles. As a rule, a party first guilty of a substantial or material breach of contract cannot complain if the other party thereafter refuses to perform. Imperial F. Ins. Co. v. Coos County 151 U.S. 452, 38 L ed 231, 14 S. Ct 379, Williston, Contracts 3d ed 812 et seq. He can neither insist on performance by the other party, Nakdimen v. Baker (C A 8 Ark) 111 F. 2d 778, cert den. 311 U.S. 665, 85 L ed 427, 61 S. Ct 22, nor maintain an action against the other party for a subsequent failure to perform. Lynch v. McDonald 12 Utah 2d 427, 367 p. 2d 464. Where a contract is not performed, the party who is guilty of the first breach is generally the one upon whom rests all the liability for the nonperformance. Anvil Min. Co. v. Humble 153 U. S. 540, 38 L ed 814, 14 S. Ct 876, Buckman v. Hill Military Academy, Inc. 190 Or. 194, 223 p. 2d 172.

In Lynch v. McDonald, supra, this Court accepted the principle that the party who commits the first breach cannot maintain an action against the other for a subsequent failure to perform. Under the circumstances, the Owner, Mr. Sorenson, was not entitled to "Damages Measured By His Cost to Complete" the project, or to any damages.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT APPLIED ESTABLISHED CONTRACT PRINCIPLES TO THE COMPUTATION OF DAMAGES.

Plaintiffs Damage Recapitulation, Exhibit P-11, which was illustrative of Mr. Holman's testimony, was prepared according to principles enunciated in this Court's decision in the matter of Keller v. Deseret Mortuary Company 23 Ut 2d 1, 455 P. 2d 197.

Deseret Mortuary, like the present Appellants, claimed at the trial that the Plaintiff, Mr. Keller, had breached the Contract in that he had not completed the work in time nor in a satisfactory or workmanlike manner. The Trial Court found the issues for the Plaintiff and awarded damages. This Court, saying that there was "substantial, reasonable and credible evidence" to support the Trial Judge's findings, chose not to overturn the Court's decision on grounds of delay or poor workmanship.

The Appellants, in Keller, argued that the Plaintiffs recovery should be limited to the reasonable value of the work performed and the materials furnished. This Court noted that there was a "definite Contract" upon which the

claim of the Plaintiff was based, and that the assessment of damages by the Trial Court was "consistent with the general principle which underlies the ascertainment of damages for breach of contract: that the non-breaching party should receive an award which will put him in as good position as he would have been in had there been no breach." Citing 5 Williston on Contracts, 3824, Sec. 1363; 1 Restatement of Law, Contracts, 578, Sec. 346, Comments (g) and (h); 5 Corbin on Contracts, Sec. 1094. The Court found no error in an award of damages based upon the total amount promised for the project less the reasonable cost of completing it.

The formula used by the Plaintiffs in this case, as illustrated by Exhibit P-11, which showed damages slightly in excess of \$7,300.00, and the formula used by the Trial Judge and approved on appeal in the Keller case are virtually identical. P-11 was prepared with the Pacific Reporter open to the Keller case. It includes extras, which in this instance were required to ascertain the total contract price, and offsets and contract credits to the Appellants, which were, in view of the relationship between the parties, required to adjust the total contract price. Otherwise, the formula applied looked to the Contract and to the amount paid by the Defendants, the balance if the job had been completed and the reasonable cost of completion, the product being the measure of Plaintiffs damage.

There can be no doubt that the Trial Judge also relied on the Keller principle in computing damages. The item entitled "Credits due Defendants" on the Court's July 9 letter to counsel, Appendix "A" to Appellants Brief, included, the Court found, costs of completion. (Finding 9, R. 526)

Reference to the Keller case at page 198 and the Court's letter to counsel (R., between 515 and 516), and to Finding 9, indicates the Court followed the standard enunciated in Keller.

The Trial Court concluded that the Defendants "breached the Contract," "caused the delay in construction" alleged by the plaintiffs and caused damage, the amount of which was then specified. (July 9 letter to counsel, Appendix "A" to Appellants Brief) The unspecified breach of the plaintiffs, invoked to avoid the imposition of attorney's fees and costs, did not operate to avoid the award of damages or to remove the application of the principles established by this Court in the Keller case to determine the amount of such damages. The fact that the Court below found a breach by the plaintiffs should, under the circumstances, alter nothing. Professor Williston, quoted by this Court in Keller as authority for the proposition that the non-breaching party may recover damages equivalent to the fruits of his bargain, would not quibble over a Contractors "minor deviation from the required performance." vol 11, Williston on Contracts, 1363, p. 340,

See also: Jacob and Youngs Inc. v. Kent 230 NY 239, 129 NE 89, 23 ALR 1429, Shell v. Schmidt 164 Cal App 2d 330, 330 P. 2d 817.

Judge Sawaya, whose duty it was to determine whether a breach was material, a simple omission or an unimportant detail, did not find that the Plaintiffs' breach precluded the Plaintiffs' claim for damages measured by Keller principles.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS SHOULD BE UPHELD ON APPEAL.

The Brief of the Appellants' is filled with references to the Trial Court's Findings on the issues of damage. It re-examines, in confusing detail, the constituent factual elements of the Findings and challenges their accuracy. It is of little value, on appeal, for this tribunal to re-try the case on damages or to become involved in the morass of detail which complicated the case from its inception. The facts on damages were controverted and disputed, conflictory and susceptible to varying inferences. The Court made its findings based on the testimony of the witnesses and the proofs which were submitted. Counsel submits that the veracity of the Defendants can be quickly ascertained, even from the cold record, by the most cursory examination of the Accounting Summary, Appendix "C" to Appellants Brief. (Which is not an Exhibit and which is improperly included in the Brief) The document is inflated and totally unreliable. The

Court's utter rejection of the summary, given the testimony and the circumstances, was entirely inevitable.

The Respondents' find it unhelpful to be drawn, on appeal, into a minute and detailed discussion of the elements of the damage award. The evidence is in the Record, the Abstract and in the Damage Recapitulation, Exhibit P-11, which was modified to some degree by the Court, and by the testimony, both up and down.

Where there is a dispute in the evidence, this Court has repeatedly supported the findings of the Trial Court, assuming that

"....the Trial Court believed those aspects of the evidence, and drew the inferences which could fairly and reasonably be drawn therefrom, which tend to support the findings and judgment...." Casey v. Nelson Brothers Construction Company 24 Utah 2d 14, 465 P. 2d 173 (1970). See also: Winger v. Gem State Mutual of Utah 22 Ut 2d 132, 449 P. 2d 982.

If upon the review of the record, there is a reasonable basis in the evidence to support the Court's findings, they will, of course, not be disturbed. Barrett v. Vickers 24 Ut 2d 334, 471 P. 2d 157.¹ There is, on this record, competent testimony supporting all of the Court's critical factual findings. The Trial Court made its find-

1. An action for breach of contract is an action at law, rather than equity. Flynn v. Schocker Construction Co. 23 Ut 2d 140, 459 P. 2d 433. In an action at law, the Appellate Court does not reverse on issues of fact where the Trial Court's findings are supported by the evidence or the absence of it. Martin v. Martin 29 Ut 2d 413, 510 P. 2d 1102.

ings some of which are cumulations of elements from the testimony of both Plaintiffs and Defendants, after hearing disputed and contradictory evidence from the parties. This Court has frequently indicated that where competent evidence supports the fact finder's conclusions, it cannot "substitute" its judgment for that of the Trial Court, even if it disagrees with the findings. Pitcher v. Lauritzen 18 Ut 2d 368, 423 P. 2d 491.

POINT IV

THIS COURT'S DECISION SHOULD RESOLVE, FINALLY AND FOREVER, THE ISSUES BETWEEN THE PARTIES.

The decision in this case should, finally and forever, resolve all matters in controversy between the parties. The Trial Court, and Judge Stewart M. Hanson, Jr., earlier in the record, forever barred lien claims of other potential claimants as against the property in question, excluding only the claims of the Plaintiffs and those of Fashion Cabinets Manufacturing, Inc. The Plaintiffs, who have been delayed in receiving payment for their work for several years, should, as a result of this decision, be fully free from further problems with these Defendants. This decision, and the decision of the Trial Court, should be res judicata on all issues between these parties as a result of the agreement for the construction of a fourplex at 2305 Green Street in Salt Lake City, Utah.

CONCLUSION

The Trial Court did not award the plaintiffs their attorney fees or costs, nor did its computation include the full face value of the extras asserted by the plaintiffs. In the face of some orchestrated confusion, concerning damages, the Court kept its own counsel making, apparently, some deductions and additions for which there was and is no precise itemization. Balancing the claims of the litigants, evidenced by a confusing record, the Court arrived at its figures, independently, after the trial concluded. The Court recorded counsel's final arguments which, while unreported, contained the somewhat modified figures which remained at the conclusion of all the evidence. It found the extras to amount to \$3,900.00, a reduction of over \$1,500.00 from the amount the plaintiffs initially claimed.

Where factual findings are confusing and disputed, technically based, it is difficult to match the advantaged position of the lower Court. The Trial Court was able to gauge, first hand, the credibility of the parties and the problems raised by vastly contradictory facts.

The findings of the determiner of the facts, because of his close proximity to the witnesses and the trial and because he is the exclusive judge of the credibility

of witnesses and of the "weight to be given evidence",²
should be upheld on this appeal.